
IN THE T'NITED

FOR THE WESTERN

STATES DISTRICT COUR,T

DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AIVIERICA

v.

DOHERTY KUSHIMO
SABURI ADEYEMI
ABIODIJIV BAKRE
ADETUN.JI GBADEGESHI
a/k/a Rasaq Adesina
.ADEBOI,A ME.TULE
MTCHAEL IDOhIU OLUGBADE
a/k/a Gbade Idowu Mejule
a/k/a Emmanuel fbukunolu fdowu Olugbade
XERXES SHEVAR
GCOtsfSA KEHLE
LOYISO KUI.A
ABIODTIN TI\TAI{I
a/k/ a Dakova
FUNMII,AYO ALTYU
a/k/ a Aliu
BOI,A PETERS
a/k/ a Bola M. Kassim
a/k/ a Muti Kassim
a/k/ a. Renee Copley
a/k/a Elizabeth Brown
SAI{UEL SOBAtO,JU
DA}iIIEL FREEMAN
NANA tsAF'FOUR
KWAIvIE ASAI{OAH
ROBERT WIR.EKO

AI,AIRE SANYA

A}ID NOW

attorneys, David

Western nistrict

Criminal No. L4-L2

(Under Seal)

tsrie

FOURTH SUPERSEDING INDICT}{EI{T MEUORAIVDI'M

comes the Unit.ed States of Amerj-ca, by its

J. Hickt,on, Unlted St,ates Attorney for t.he

of Pennsylvania, and Christian A. Trabold,



Asslstant United Stat,es Attorney for said District, and submits

this Fourth superseding rndictment Memorandum to the court:

I. THE SUPERSEDING IIIDICTMEIST

A Federal Grand 'Jury returned a thirteen-count Fourth

Superseding Indictment against the above-named defendants for
alleged violat,ions of, federal 1aw:

COI]If,I

2-1-3

oFFENSE/pATE

Conspiracy to
commit wire fraud
Frorn in and around
December 2005
to in and around
November 2Ol4

Aggravated identity
Thef t,

In and around
March 2OLL

to in and around
October 20]-2

TITLE,/SECTION

1.8 USC 51349

DEFEIIDAIIT (S)
EHARGED

18 USC SL028.A,(a) (1) Kushimo
Bakre

U.S.C. SL31t9, to be es.Eablished, the

of Ehe following essential elements

the conspiracy, agre.enrent,

violations of 18 U.S.C. S 1343

II. ELEMEIITS OP THE OFFENSES

4,. As to Count, 1:

rn order f or the crime of conspiracy to conu.nit wire

f,raud, in vlolat,ion of L8

government must prove all

beyond a reasonable doubt:

1". That or

asunderstanding to commit



described in the Fourth superseding rndictment, was fornred,

reached, or entered j-nto by two or more persons.

2. At solRe t.ime during Ehe exi.sterrce of t,he

conspiracy, agreement or understanding, the defendant, knew t.he

purpose of the agreement, and, with that knowledge, then
deliberately joined the conspiracy, agreeulent or understanding.

O,Malley, Grenig and Lee, 2 Federal
.Tury Fractice and Instructions S 3l_. 03(2oazl tr vert act
requirement , see Whit.f ield v. United
States, l',25 S.et.
United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10,
L6 (Lee4) ).

B. As to Countc 2 through 13:

rn order for the crire of aggravated identity t,hef t,
in violation of l_B U. S. C. S1O2BA{a) (1) , to be established, the
government must prove all of the following essential elements

beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. That the

violati-on of a statute listed

aggravated identity t.hef t,

S1028A (a) ( 1) ; and

def endant comrnj-tted a f elony

in 18 U.S.C. S1O28A(c), other than

in violation of 18 U.S.C.

2. That the defendant, during and in relation
to said felony vj_olation, knowingly Eransferred, possessed or
used, wit,hout lawful authority, a means of identif icat j.on of
another person.

LB U.s.C. 51028A(a) (1)



A.

I.

As to Count
u.s.c. s1349):

PENALTIES

L: Conspiracy to commit fraud (18

1. Imprisonrnent of not more than twenty (20)

years (18 U.S.C. SS1343 and L349).

2. A f ine not more than t,he greater of :

(a) $2s0,000 (18 U.s.C. S 3s7J. (b) (3) )

or

(b) an alternative f ine in an aupunt, not

more t.han the greater of t.wice the gross pecuniary gain to any

Person or twice the pecuniary loss to any person other than the

defendant, unless the imposit.ion of thls alternative fine would

unduly complicate or prol-ong the sentencing process (re u.s.c. s

3s7l- (d) ) .

3. A tenm of, supervi.sed release of not more

t,han three (3) years (fe U.S.C. SS 3559 and 3SB3).

4. Any or all of the above.

B. Aa to Countg 2 through 13: Aggravat,ed identi.ty
thef t (18 u. S. C. S1028A (a) (1) :

1. A term of i-mprisonment of two years to run

consecutively with any other Eerm imposed, except as stated in
18 U.s.C. S1o28A(b) (4) (re U.s.C. SLo28A(a) (1) ).

2. A fine of $2s0,000 (18 U.S.C. 53521(b) (3) )



3. A t,erm of supervised release of not rnore

than one (1) year (fe U.S.C. S3SB3).

4. Any or all of the above.

IV. Ii{AITDATORY SPECIAIJ ASSESSMAIM

A mandat,ory special assessment of gLoo.00 rnust be

imposed on each count upon which the def,endant j.e convicted,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. S30L3.

V. RESTITIITION

Restitution may be required in Ehis case as to counts

one through Thirteen, together with any authorized penalt,y, 6rs

part of the defendant's sentence pursuant. to 1g u.s.c. ss3653,

3553A and 2259.

. FORF'EITI'RE

As set forth

applicable in this cdse.

the indictment, forfe j_ture may be

Respectful 1y subrnitted,

DAVID J. HICKTON
Unj-ted StaEes .A,ttorney

VI

in

CHRISTI.AN A. TRABOTD
Assistant U.S. At,torney
PA rD No. 7501_3


